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Who Do I Tell?
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Ellison Lee lives a double life. Well triple, if you count the one he shows his parents. He’s an anchor for the student-run Eyewitness News in downtown Portland. A business major on the six-year plan like so many of the EWN staff. His family members are very proud of him. They had hoped for a STEM major, but business is good too.

And then there’s E. Lee. He’s a pole dancer at the Stag, a gay bar down in Chinatown. He makes good money, and he likes it. Someday he’ll give it up, but not now, not yet. 

E. Lee’s lover is a man he only knows as P3. He doesn’t know where he lives, what he does for a living, nothing. He only knows that this is a man he wants to keep forever.

Ryan Matthews does know P3, however, and he doesn’t think Ellison Lee has any business getting near the psychopath who tried to kill Ryan a year ago. 

E. Lee? Well, that may be a different story. If there is one thing Ryan Matthews does believe in, it’s second chances.

Year 3, book 4. The 19th book of the Newsroom PDX series. 
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Chapter 1
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11 p.m., Tuesday, March 29, 2022, Portland State University — Ellison Lee smiled into the camera. “And that’s today’s news. Welcome back, students, to spring term and good night from all of us at Eyewitness News at Portland State University in downtown Portland, Oregon.”

He turned to his co-anchor, Cindy Keller, to chat about one of the stories. It might look unscripted to the viewers, but this was just as much a part of the show. Two colleagues chatting pleasantly as the credits roll. Ellison looked to the third anchor, Peter Stoltz, a new addition to the cast. “Good job, tonight,” he told him. And it was true. Peter had done the lead-in to a story about more violence against the homeless who were camped down on the waterfront. It had become a thing for roving bands of young men to rampage through the camps, destroy belongings, rough up people. Miguel Garcia had gone down with his videocamera to capture one of the rampages. After Miguel’s series last month, the homeless seemed to think he was their reporter. Miguel seem to accept that responsibility. 

They deserve to have their stories told like anyone else, Miguel said. That’s our job.

No one at EWN disagreed, but it was still tough to watch, to talk about on television, to broadcast. And this was Peter’s first term at EWN. He’d only been doing anchoring for two weeks — ever since Blair Williams had shuffled management staff after becoming editor-in-chief.

And Ellison Lee had suddenly become the lead anchor for the nightly news show — he was still in disbelief — both that he’d been asked, and that he’d said yes. It made him much more visible. 

And he’d spent a lifetime, it seemed like, being invisible.

“And that’s a wrap,” Ben Waters, the television manager, said as he came out of his office. “Good job tonight, folks.”

He said the same thing every night. And he seemed to mean it every time, Ellison thought as he waited for the sound techs to take off his microphone and release him from the set.

“Seriously, Peter,” he said to his new co-anchor. “You had the right demeanor for that story. And your voice didn’t shake.”

“He’s right,” Cindy agreed. She was a soft-spoken woman with brown hair and brown eyes. Pretty without being so attractive that she distracted viewers from the stories she told. “The first big story I had to introduce was when our editor got kidnapped. And my hands were shaking so bad.”

That had been last spring, before Ellison had joined the staff. Just before, because he was in the spring newbie class. So he remembered the story, but he hadn’t been on the set that night.

“That would be tough,” Peter agreed. “I just wanted to give the story its due. Miguel’s stuff is powerful.”

“Thanks,” Miguel called over from the video-editing station. He was a compact Latino with a wispy beard, who was probably there waiting for Cindy, Ellison thought. Or maybe he had more for the post-show documentaries they often ran. Miguel seemed permanently glued to that seat. There was always more video to edit, he’d mumble. Ellison assumed he went to class on occasion. They had to be students to work here.

And he went down into the homeless camps, an increasingly dangerous thing to do. He glanced at Cindy and caught a worried look cross her face. That would be hard. How do you support your partner, and yet know he was in danger?

It took a different personality to be an anchor than it did to be a reporter —videographer or word person. Ellison knew he couldn’t do what Miguel did. But then, Miguel couldn’t do what he did either. He snorted at the thought.

“Good story,” Bianca Parks agreed from her editing terminal. When he’d started, Bianca had been the lead anchor, the one who had coached him through those first weeks. He still looked to her, even though she was now ‘management’ — news director, a new position equal to the news editor position. She was the visual equivalent to the word side. EWN editors had talked for a long time about needing to do something to integrate visual storytelling up front instead of an add-on at the end of the process. Blair had finally done it.

Bianca and Miguel were at the first computer pod — the pod had the first computers you saw when you came up the stairs to the second-floor newsroom. It was the hub, and the gatekeeper. The news editor had a desk there, although right now she was back in the corner where the photo editor’s computer was. Her partner was working on deadline to get out Folio, the weekly print edition. Although technically he was no longer the photo editor, no one seemed inclined to boot him off that machine.

Especially when he was on deadline. People got surly on deadline, even Joe Castro, who was as laid-back a stoner as any he’d ever known. 

There were a half-dozen or so other computer pods in the newsroom, a large warehouse loft space just off the northwest corner of PSU’s downtown campus. The building had been a warehouse, until about 10-12 years ago when the university president picked a fight with an editor over student fee funding and the university president lost.

EWN got a remodeled warehouse with the television studio and computer technology they needed. The university got EWN’s old space in the student union building that it had been coveting.

And a new president. As Blair was fond of quoting, ‘it doesn’t pay to quarrel with people who buy their ink by the barrel.’

The large, 16-foot-tall windows on the east wall weren’t ideal for a television set, but the studio designers had created a big white shell to give them the control over light that they needed. Sports claimed the space between the shell and the windows. 

The newsroom was made of brick walls and cement floors — except someone had decided that the three offices along the north wall ought to have walls made of glass. Nobody knew why, and no one particularly thought they were a good idea. But there they were, and since they’d all rather spend money on equipment than on remodeling, there they would stay.

Blair Williams came out of her office, the biggest of the three, in the northeast corner. “Miguel?” she said. “Are you running live-stream tonight on this?”

He nodded. “It’s queued, Ben,” he called over. And the television station chief nodded and ducked back into his office.

“I had hoped Abel Bellows’ death would stop the rampaging,” Blair said.

Ellison watched her for a bit, hoping for some sign of how she was doing. Winter quarter had been a rough term for her — a rough term on the end of a rough year. Like everyone else, he missed the girl who wore flippy skirts and pink T-shirts with her hair in a bouncy ponytail, even if this tall, slim woman with a professional blond bob looked more like an EIC.

Her fiancé, Will Bristol, the former EIC, came in now and then, but he usually just wrote from home. He was still on medically supervised leave after a bad concussion in January. It almost killed Will, he’d heard. Whatever had happened between him and Blair had changed them both. He wasn’t in on the gossip about that. But he could read the tension that still existed between Bianca and Ben whenever Will was around just fine.

They were protective of Blair. Well, they all were. She was their EIC now. She had their backs, and they had hers.

“New trend,” Miguel was saying about the rampaging. “I was talking to a guy who said two nights now, cars of young guys have thrown lit hibachis over the embarkment into the homeless camp down by the railroad tracks. College students, he said. He said it happened in the ‘80s too — in Seattle. Except there they were rolling homeless men, dousing them with lighter fluid and setting them on fire. A frat initiation. I don’t know how he knew about that — I didn’t think he was old enough, but maybe.”

Blair frowned. “Does he think these are college students?”

Miguel nodded. “Yeah,” he said slowly. “He said he thinks they’re Reedies.”

“Reed College?” Ellison said. “Why them in particular?”

Miguel shook his head. “I’m not sure. He’s not the most reliable source in the world. When I pressed him with questions, he backed off.”

Which meant the source was one of the homeless, Ellison thought. 

“Ryan is still taking classes at Reed for his master’s degree,” Blair said. “Maybe he knows people you could ask over there. That seems awfully specific.”

Miguel made a note on his notepad that he kept by his computer. “I want J.J. to take a look at the footage from tonight,” he said. “See if he recognizes any faces. Seems like, if it’s college guys, PSU would be the likely source — sheer numbers. And J.J. is likely to know them.”

Blair nodded. “Then we’re done for the evening,” she said. “How is everyone getting home?”

That was a new thing for the staff. No more people just wandering out when they were ready to go. Miguel and Blair were adamant that they take precautions. And no one really argued after the last month.

“I’ve got my car,” Ellison said. “Anyone need a ride? Peter? Where are you headed?”

“I’m in the residence hall,” he said. “It’s just a couple of blocks to walk.” Everyone stared at him thoughtfully. “What?”

“It’s a nice night for a walk,” Ben said. “We’ll take the long way around and see you home.”

“I can take care of myself!” Peter protested. 

“No one can, if you get jumped, or if someone has a weapon,” Bianca Parks said. Ellison remembered when that had happened to her, nearly a year ago. “Unless maybe you’re Ben Waters,” she added looking at Ben. They were living together in an apartment across the bridge into Goose Hollow.

“And you notice I don’t walk alone either,” Ben said, not denying her point about his ability to fight. He was apparently quite a good fighter. He’d learned from veterans at Standing Rock, Ellison had heard. He’d like to hear that whole story sometime. How a Yakama teenager ended up at Standing Rock, and learned to fight? Yeah, he’d like to hear that story.

“Not sure I or Bianca would be much backup,” Blair said with a laugh. “Except to call Campus Security for you.”

Blair lived in the same building as Bianca and Ben, so the three of them walked home together. Cindy and Miguel were already heading out together as they did most nights. Joe Castro would give Kari Dow a ride home when they left — whenever they got Folio out. Sometimes that was more like early morning hours, not late-night ones. It went to the printer tonight, out on the stands on Thursdays.

Which left him, going home alone, odd man out. Anti-fraternization policies? At EWN? No. Actually, he wondered if they had any policies.

Well that wasn’t unusual either, he thought. “Come on Peter,” he said abruptly. “I’ll give you a lift. I know it’s faster to walk it, but a ride is safer. And if you factor in the time spent arguing, it’s probably as fast.”

Peter rolled his eyes. He was over 6-foot tall, a blonde with blue eyes, and well-muscled. He worked out, Ellison thought, looking at him carefully. He didn’t like to give his colleagues a lot of scrutiny. It might provoke gossip. He avoided gossip, although he knew there was a bit of speculation about him among the staff. His private life was private. And that was rare at EWN.

Newsrooms ran on gossip, EWN staff said. Newsroom axiom.

He smiled at that thought.

Peter nodded, and everyone now satisfied, they headed out the door. Corey Washington was pounding up the stairs as they started down them. As the computer systems manager — or in EWN language, Chief Geek, Corey preferred to work at night. Really late at night. He’d run all the checks on their systems, looking for and repelling hackers, because EWN had become a challenge for the right-wing hacker set. Ellison shook his head slightly. Things had gotten weird in Portland over the last two years.

That made him laugh.

Portland had always prided itself on being weird. Had for decades. 

But this was dangerous, hateful and mean. Ellison considered that as he beeped his car unlocked from the entryway of the EWN building. Well, for some people, Portland had always been that too.

“Is this going to be a nightly argument?” Peter asked as he got into the small, old Honda Civic Ellison had driven since he got his driver’s license. 

“Probably,” Ellison said. “You can just accept you’re riding with me, if I’m there. And if I’m not working that night, accept that someone will either give you a ride, or that Ben or one of the techs who lives in the residence hall will walk with you. We’ve learned the hard way, we’re too vulnerable at night. If you are there by yourself, call Campus Security and ask for Lt. Jordan Young.”

Peter was silent for a bit. “No offense, Ellison, but I’m not a likely target, am I?”

Ellison glanced at him. “Because you’re big and male? Or because you’re white?” He shrugged. “You got a EWN bullseye painted on you the first time you sat down at the anchor desk. Are you safer than Bianca? A Black woman? Maybe. Or maybe they’ll call you a race traitor like I hear they used to call Emily Andersen.”

“Seriously?” Peter asked. “A race traitor?”

“She was living with Cage Washington back then,” Ellison replied. “You know who he is right? Black videographer who’s part of the Center for Experimental Journalism. They actually got married 10 days ago. But mostly, it was because she’s a white woman and she was the EIC at EWN. You’d have to ask Corey, he monitors for such stuff, but I won’t be surprised if Blair gets it too. And Cindy. No one is more visible — and therefore more vulnerable — than us anchors.”

He pulled in front of Peter’s residence hall. “So suck it up and deal,” he advised.

Peter got out. “Thanks for the ride,” he said. He didn’t sound convinced.

Ellison nodded and pulled away. Well, convinced or not, no one walked home alone after the broadcast anymore. 

It was the rule.

He laughed at that, as he always did. The newsroom had rules. Emily’s rules were handed down: Stay safe. Get the story. Come back. The Cage addendum: Come back with the videocamera — those things are expensive. 

People mostly made them up on the spot, but you had to watch out, they might get incorporated into the newsroom lore. A woman he’d never met named Sarah King had said it was disturbing how much power was held in the newsroom by young men who thought with their stomachs. Do not let Ryan Matthews get bored, was not just a newsroom rule, but a campus-wide one. Even the university president apparently adhered to that one.

He turned his mind off for a bit — disengaged — and let his brain switch gears. It was hard to be more than one person. He wondered how many he was these days? The dutiful son, of course. The 4.0 student. The EWN news anchor. 

And the dancer at Stag. So far, he’d been able to keep that identity separate from the other ones. He didn’t know how long that would last. To be honest, he was surprised Ryan Matthews hadn’t heard. Two years ago, he would have. Two years ago, Ryan was still a player. Then Covid shut down the bars and clubs, and their paths hadn’t crossed. But he heard stories. People still talked about Ryan Matthews. They talked about Cinder too. He kept his distance from her, because they did have friends in common. Same with some of the sports staff.

But then, he didn’t look the same, did he? He parked his car at home, a small apartment Everett Station called a one-bedroom and anyone else would call a studio, and walked over to Stag, a quote gentlemen’s bar catering to the LBGTQ community, end quote. A gay bar to everyone who wasn’t writing advertising copy. He went into the dressing room, changed out of his clothes and into a strap. He gelled his hair into a spiky black halo. He glanced at himself in the mirror and shrugged. 

At midnight, he went out onto the stage and grabbed the pole to the slow-pounding beat of old Motown and inverted his body, and let it slide down the pole slowly. Harder to do that on a slow song like this, but he liked it. Liked how it felt to be in control of each beat of his body. Pole dancing required upper body strength and a nearly naked body, or your body didn’t stick enough to make it work. Ellison — E. Lee here — liked the feel of each of his muscles showing as he used them, of the slick sweat coating him under the hot spotlight. 

Hell yeah, it was sexual. It was arousing. Your point?

There was applause, loud applause, when he was done. He left the stage, and someone handed him a towel. He wiped off quickly, pulled on a pair of loose, silky trousers, and then went out to mingle with the patrons there — some of whom came to watch him dance, in particular. He’d do at least one more dance before closing. Maybe even a third, he’d have to see. 

He made a good income here on tips. But he was no fool. He just had to look around and see that he wasn’t going to do this for a career. Darcelle, notwithstanding, this wasn’t a career for old people. And he had no intention of becoming an old drag queen. Nothing wrong with those who did, and mad respect to Darcelle who changed the gay scene in Portland forever, but that wasn’t going to be his future.

That was why he was at PSU getting a degree. Why he was drawn to the bright lights of EWN’s nightly news where he had such a different look that no one from here had spotted him there. And vice versa. Really, was television news anchor any less of a high? He grinned at the thought that anchoring the news and pole dancing had a lot in common.

He looked over the audience, searching. It wasn’t a large bar, but it was packed at this time of night. Someone embraced him from behind. And Ellison relaxed against the man, recognizing his touch. And wasn’t that odd? That you could recognize the simplest touch from a lover? One you couldn’t see? Just feel?

“Hello, lover,” said the man he knew as P3. “Miss me?”
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Chapter 2
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1 a.m., Wednesday, March 30, 2022, Portland —  Miguel took Cindy home, and they sat out in the driveway of her parents’ house in Mount Tabor and talked for a while. And kissed. Then he reluctantly let her go. She had morning classes. He didn’t. It might take him longer to get through school, but he was determined to never take a class before noon. And he wasn’t in any hurry anyway.

He walked Cindy to her door. Her parents were old-fashioned, and they approved of his old-fashioned manners. Well, his abuela had drilled them into his head more than his own parents. And there was something about Cindy that made him dig out those manners. So even though she protested that he didn’t need to, he still walked her to the door. Mount Tabor was a middle-class, blue-collar neighborhood. But at midnight? No place was that safe. 

Cindy used mass transit for the most part, but at midnight after the broadcast? Miguel didn’t want her waiting for the train. Even the train itself was risky. Some nights, he just took her to the train station and they sat in his car and waited for it. But he had grown increasingly paranoid about that — he made her text him when she got home safely, and he didn’t sleep until he got that text.

He didn’t know what he would do if the text didn’t arrive, either. So more and more often he drove her home or she stayed with him in the Loft. She needed to move into town, he thought, but her parents were protective and saw living downtown as dangerous. They weren’t wrong, but Miguel worried more about her commute. He wondered if there was a studio available in the apartment complex that everyone lived in. She’d be safer there.

He stewed about all of it as he drove home to the Loft, an L-shaped warehouse in NE Portland that was home to a collection of creative misfits and managed by Kevin Tighe, an EWN alum who had been instrumental in getting the remodeled warehouse for the newsroom. Now, he ran sound backstage at major Portland events, and was renowned for his ability to scrounge whatever you needed. Most of his loft-mates were EWN alums or friends of EWN. Corey Washington also had rooms there.

Miguel parked, and started inside. Someone was sitting on the loading dock. He stopped. At first he thought it was Kevin. None of the Loft residents seemed to keep normal business hours — they kept geek hours, Corey had said with a laugh. 

But it wasn’t Kevin.

It was Hank, one of the homeless men he’d met when he first started covering homelessness in Portland. He was part of the encampment down behind the train station. Former military. Former Navy medic assigned to a Marine battalion in Afghanistan. A bitter, haunted, caustic man.

And one of Miguel’s most trusted sources. But he hadn’t known Hank knew where he lived. And it bothered him that he did.

“What are you doing here?” Miguel demanded in a low voice. He most certainly didn’t want all his loft-mates out here.

“You need to come,” Hank said. “There’s been another hibachi attack. And this time, it hit a shelter of cardboard boxes, and it caught fire. It’s bad, Miguel.”

Hank rarely called him by name either. Miguel swallowed hard. “Take my car?”

“Faster to walk,” he said.

“Where?” 

“Old Town,” Hank said grimly. “Down by the Chinese garden.”

Miguel chewed his lip and nodded. He pulled out his phone and sent Cage a text. He hesitated, and then sent one to Blair. She was EIC, and he needed to treat her like one. But Cage had been his mentor and boss since he first arrived at EWN. 

“Let’s go,” Miguel said, and he set off. Not walking too fast. Don’t call attention to yourself, he thought. He’d learned a lot working in downtown Portland these last few years. Survival skills. Especially if you were a Latino dressed like a bum. 

“Tell me,” Miguel said.

“It took the firetruck more than 30 minutes to get there,” Hank said. Miguel could tell he was angry. Well Hank usually was. But what the hell? The fire station was just blocks away! “The ambulance was another 20 minutes behind that. We did our best to pull people out. But some wouldn’t leave their things behind. They thought it was a trick — as if anyone would want their shit.”

Hank paused. Miguel noticed he was holding his hands away from his body. “You’re hurt,” Miguel said sharply. “Why didn’t you say anything?”

“Minor burns,” he said dismissively. “Clean air is the best thing for them.”

Might be true, Miguel thought. Hank would know. Whether he was ignoring what he knew was another thing.

“And there were children,” Hank said, his voice barely a whisper. “I think they targeted that spot. I think they went after the children.”

Miguel closed his eyes and tried not to cry. “Deaths?” he asked with difficulty.

Hank shook his head. “Not at the scene. But some were in bad shape when they loaded them up. They....” He trailed off and shook his head again. “The screams.”

Miguel envisioned the scene. Envisioned what that would do to the homeless vets and their memories and nightmares. What it was going to do to his own PTSD triggers. 

“I need to call some people,” Miguel said. “Some of the reporters who are on my team. They can call the hospital and police. Get the reports. Get the date stamps. That’s their jobs.”

Hank nodded.

Miguel called Will Bristol. 

“What do you need?” Will asked, his voice raspy from being woken up. “Blair just got the text.”

Miguel told him what he knew. “Can you start with the hospitals?” he asked. “People are going to be scared. That delay scares me.”

“On it,” Will said, and he sounded more alert. “I’ll call you back as soon as I know something.”

Miguel ended the call. Will was still the best investigative reporter on staff. He understood institutions and how they function. He got along with police and people in positions of power. And he didn’t back down from tough questions either. Miguel had filmed a few of his interviews. And holy Jesus, the man just... asked. And then waited, looking interested. 

And people answered.

He’d filmed Ryan Matthews interviewing people a couple of times too. He could get the damnest people to talk to him. Miguel had learned a lot from watching him. He didn’t think he could do what Will did, however.

Thinking of Ryan, he sent him the text he’d sent Cage. 

Ryan called him. “You got back up?”

“I’m with Hank,” Miguel said, who might or might not count as backup. Depending on the day. The situation. And the need. But Ryan would know that.

Ryan was silent. “Check in when you get there,” he said finally. “If you need help? Tap Ben Waters for it.”

That was a good suggestion, Miguel thought gratefully. Cage stood out. He covered the protests, and a lot of the rest of the stuff down here. And he was working for OPB these days as well. But he did not blend in. Ben was quieter. He wasn’t quite 6-foot tall, although he was taller than Miguel. Slim, muscled. And trained to fight.

It was about a mile to Old Town. Chinatown, really, he saw, when they went left off Burnside through the red Chinese gates instead of right into what he thought of as Old Town, although the city had been trying to get that label to extend to both areas.

This was arguably the worst part of town these days. So many closed up and abandoned businesses. It had always been rough down here, Miguel had heard. The dive bars, the music venues. Prostitution was rampant. Just east of here, the remaining bars had petitioned the city council for their own private protection because police were unwilling to come down there. 

And didn’t that make Miguel shake his head. City Council approved it too.

Miguel could see the scene ahead. There was an ambulance still there. “When did this happen?” he asked.

“Probably around midnight,” Hank answered. “But it wasn’t just the fire. A gang of young men came through — rampaging.”

“I thought we broke that up,” Miguel muttered. 

“One gang, and a bad one since it was a cop’s son who was running it,” Hank agreed. “But these are younger? Not organized. Just out for kicks.”

“You mentioned Reed, last time,” Miguel observed.

Hank hesitated. “I heard some of the guys,” he said at last. “They were talking about frat initiation. That’s Reed, right? Your school doesn’t have frats?”

He wasn’t sure Reed did either. And well, PSU did have a fraternity/sorority system. It wasn’t much. He thought Student Affairs kept a tight rein on them. More questions for someone else to answer. He got his camera out of his bag. Pulled out a badge that said press and pinned it to his coat. His camera said EWN press too. 

He was never sure if he was claiming observer status when he did this or was pinning on a bullseye. Portland police didn’t observe Geneva Conventions. He smirked. He’d have to use that line on Will. Six months ago — before the war in Ukraine — he wouldn’t have even known what the hell someone was talking about if they mentioned the Geneva Conventions.

He started filming as they walked. B-roll they called it, and he wasn’t even sure what that stood for? Background? Maybe. But it was atmospheric shots that allowed a narrator to talk over. They always needed some of that. 

Mid-focus. The scene. What was actually happening here? He filmed clusters of people who were huddling together. He paused at the ambulance, where EMTs were still treating people. First aid kind of things, he saw. Didn’t need the hospital but did need some first aid. 

Close-in. He filmed someone waiting patiently for the EMTs. Chatted with them, got their stories of what happened. Hank stayed with him. He seemed to be urging Miguel somewhere, but it was subtle, and he didn’t seem to be in a hurry. Miguel focused on doing his job, but he let Hank guide him — to wherever Hank was taking him. He paused, and sent out an update to Blair, Ryan, Cage and Will.

“Where are we going?” Miguel finally asked. They’d moved away from the triage site, past the site where the boys had thrown lit hibachis into the clusters of tents and boxes. Miguel filmed. He stopped to interview people. He was getting tired. He glanced at his watch — after 2 a.m. no wonder he was tired.

“We caught one of them,” Hank said conversationally. “He’s been roughed up some. But we agreed. We want you to interview him. To make him talk.”

Miguel stopped. He looked at Hank incredulously. “You didn’t turn him over to the cops?”

Hank snorted. “They can go catch their own,” he said. “But they don’t. We want to know why he’s doing this. He’s a kid. Younger than you. Mason intervened, because I think they would have beaten him to death. But instead they agreed. One person came for me. I listened, and then I went to fetch you. Damnest thing I’ve ever seen.”

Portland weird, Miguel thought. He shook his head. “I’m not the right person to do this interview,” he said. “But I know who is.”

Miguel called Ryan. “We need you down here,” he said. He explained.

There was a pause.

“Give me 15,” he said.

Miguel looked at Hank. “He’s on his way. No one can get someone to talk like Ryan Matthews,” he said. “But I’ll get this started. Quite frankly I’m as interested in the people who think being interviewed is as good a punishment as going to jail.”

Hank grinned at that. “Well, it’s more likely to happen for one thing.”

Miguel snorted. No lie, there.
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Chapter 3
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2 a.m., Wednesday, March 30, 2022, Portland Heights house — Ryan pulled on jeans, a gray sweater, and running shoes. Sounded like this might end up on camera? Weird. He explained to Teresa what little he knew as he dressed. He didn’t know whether to laugh or what, but he couldn’t resist going to see this. He grabbed his backpack and headed up the elevator to the ground floor. This was his grandparents’ house, the house he’d grown up in. It was huge, four floors stair-stepped down the slope from Vista Boulevard in Portland Heights, granting residents some of the best views of the city below, and the river and mountains beyond. 

When Ryan had inherited the house two years ago, he’d been hesitant to return to it. But turning it into condos had banished old ghosts. So besides himself and Teresa, Cage and Emily had the top floor, Joe Castro and his siblings had an apartment, and a small studio belonged to Jazzy and her mother. He grinned. That’s how everyone thought of it, too. Jazzy was 9 and she was a force to be reckoned with. Her mother was sweet. 

He hesitated when he reached the ground floor, and decided he’d make better time if he jogged the mile and a half instead of driving and having to find parking. In Chinatown? He snorted. Coming home would be uphill, which was more of a workout. Well, he needed one.

The city was as quiet as it ever got at this time of the night. Revelers had gone home and workers weren’t coming in yet. There was still some activity. Cleaning crews for some of the big buildings. A cop car prowled by him, slowing to check him out. Must have decided he was truly a jogger out for a middle of the night run, Ryan thought grimly. He wondered what they would have done if it had been Cage.

To his knowledge, Cage had never been rousted by the police. He got rounded up with protesters and chucked into a holding cell once, but nothing else. It was the constant awareness that it might happen that created his stress, created stress for every Black man in the city. Living in fear like that was taking its toll on his friend. And on the city.

Ryan went past Powell’s Books, and then turned east onto Martin. Even the entertainment district was dark at this point. There were security guards, however. He nodded to them, and they nodded back. Private security. He made a mental note of it to tell the group working campus security about it. He spotted the Chinese Garden up ahead and slowed to a walk. He needed to catch his breath and running at a crowd of homeless people didn’t seem wise. The fire had taken place closer to The Stag, but the homeless men had moved their captive to behind the Chinese Garden in the shadow of its northern wall. 

He spotted Miguel’s camera. Miguel blended in among these men in his olive drab jacket. But the videocamera stood out.

He wasn’t the only familiar face, but it took Ryan a moment to recognize who he was. What was Ellison Lee doing here? And looking like that?

Ellison Lee was a gorgeous man, but this was not the sincere, earnest young man who read the news earlier in the night. His hair was different, he held himself differently. Ryan felt a tug of attraction as he stared at him, and that sense that he should know him was stronger than ever. He sidled over toward him.

“What are you doing here?” he asked quietly.

Ellison shrugged. “I was coming out of a bar after the broadcast, and I saw the firetruck arrive. I guess the newsroom has infected me, I went to see what was going on, intending to call someone if it was a story. And holy shit, Ryan, it was an ugly mess. Then I spotted Miguel, but he’s down here without backup, and I just trailed along.”

He paused and looked at Miguel. “I’m not sure he needs backup,” he added. “Or maybe they are his backup.”

Ryan grimaced. “Unreliable, though.” He looked at Ellison and nodded. “Good job, following him."

“Well, now that you’re here, I’m heading home. I have better things to do in my remaining six hours before my class in the morning,” Ellison said with a laugh. He didn’t meet Ryan’s eyes. He turned and headed up Flanders Street. Ryan watched him go with a frown. He caught a glimpse of someone he knew all too well.

“P3!” Ryan called out. The man looked back at Ryan and grinned. And then he draped his arm around Ellison’s shoulders as they walked away.

Shit, shit, shit. Ryan was torn between following them and demanding an explanation and doing this crazy interview Miguel had roped him into. He hesitated, then turned to the crowd growing restless to his right. Let’s do this, he thought. You can demand answers of Ellison tomorrow.

“Miguel?” he called softly, although much of the crowd was already aware of him. He didn’t blend in like Miguel did. That wasn’t his gift. Getting someone to tell him his story? That he could do.

Miguel looked up at the sound of his name and said something to the rangy tall man standing next to him. The man all but vibrated with energy — Ryan’s eyes narrowed. Not energy, he thought. Anger.

The man moved toward him. “They call me Hank,” he said. “So some of the guys in this camp grabbed one of the boys who threw the hibachi. And rather than turn him over to the police, they decided they wanted Miguel to interview him. They want to know why he’s doing this, and the police won’t tell us shit if we give him up. So I went after Miguel. Miguel says you’re the man for this, not him, and he’s been talking to everyone else while you got here. But people are restless. We need to do this before it explodes and someone ends up dead.”

Ryan nodded. He could feel that explosion building. “Has he said anything? A name?’

Hank shook his head. 

“OK,” Ryan said, projecting confidence. “Let’s see if Miguel’s faith is justified.” He pushed his way through the small crowd of men to stand by Miguel. Miguel glanced up at him and nodded.

“Need to do this fast,” Miguel said under his breath. Ryan nodded.

The boy, as Hank had called him, was huddled against the Garden wall. He was sitting on the ground, his knees pulled up to his face, arms wrapped around them. A tight little ball of fear huddling there, hoping the predators would go away.

Ryan squatted down beside him and waited until he peered out. “Hi,” he said. “I’m Ryan. Want to talk about it?”

It took a bit of coaxing, but the boy — he wasn’t really, but at 18, he wasn’t much past it either — had come down here with three other frat brothers. They’d driven, intending to throw the hibachi out the window and drive off. But Chinatown streets were narrow and crowded, so they decided one would get out and throw the hibachi while the driver went around the block. He’d been confident he could outrun any homeless ‘bum’ as he called them. 

Turned out some were faster than they looked, and they’d tackled him, then hustled him back here. He’d been here for hours.

“Why?” Ryan asked. “Why would you do something like this?”

“The city isn’t doing anything,” he said earnestly. No one here would disagree, Ryan thought. “They’re like rats in a sewer. You have to burn them out.”

Ryan rocked back on his heels at that comment. “Burn people,” he clarified. 

The boy hesitated, looking around him. He shrugged a bit. “We have to do something to clean up the city.”

“But why you? Why your friends?” He thought back to Miguel’s comment earlier in the evening about them being Reedies.

“Fraternity initiation,” he said. “We have to work as a team, then we’re given a target, and we attack the target. But we didn’t scope things out ahead of time, or we would have known how crowded the streets were and thought about a better escape plan.”

He hesitated, and then in a small voice, he asked, “Are they going to kill me?”

Ryan looked at him. “You sent six people to the hospital, two of them children. A dozen people were injured. What do you think the penalty should be for that?”

The boy flinched. “They could let me go. I won’t do it again.”

“Or they could turn you over to the police,” Ryan returned. “Let you face charges of felony assault.”

The boy hesitated and then nodded slightly.

His name was Brady White. And he was a freshman at PSU.

Well, shit.

Ryan stood up, and looked at Hank. He didn’t seem to be the leader of these homeless vigilantes — a phrase that almost made him grin — but he was someone they respected. “A delegation of them delivers him to the police doorsteps?” he suggested. “With Miguel filming?”

Hank looked skeptical. “Or we turn him over to you? He’s one of yours isn’t he? A student?”

“Not one of my students, no,” Ryan denied. “Miguel is one of mine. Not that....” trash was the word that came to mind, but he didn’t think it was right to call a person trash. And especially not to men who were probably called that themselves these days.

Hank grinned sardonically. “Satisfied?” he called out to the men there. 

“A fraternity initiation?” someone asked incredulously. “They’re burning us for a frat thing?”

“Apparently,” Hank said. He looked at Ryan, then Miguel. “What are you going to do about that?”

It was Miguel who answered. “We have a saying in the newsroom: When in doubt print  —tell the story. That’s what I do. And I’ll tell this story. And someone will go ask the administration, what are you going to do about this?”

“And about this kid?” Hank asked.

Ryan shrugged. “I think he gets turned over to the police. It’s what he deserves.” He hesitated, and then added, because why the hell not. “And I’m curious to see what the police do to him when you do.”

Hank snorted.

Not many illusions here, Ryan thought.

“And will you tell that story too?” Hank asked.

“We will,” Miguel answered. “That story too.”

Five homeless men marched Brady White up Second Avenue to the police station. Miguel filmed them the entire way. Hank and Ryan followed behind. 

“What do you think they’ll do?” Hank asked, sounding almost disinterested.

“They’ll take him,” Ryan said. “Might release him out the back door, but they’ll take him. But then?” Ryan considered it, and he realized the cops could easily arrest these men for kidnapping. He chewed his lip. Then he pulled out his phone and called Victor Ruiz, who did immigration law, and was a friend.

“Ryan don’t do this to me,” Vic pleaded. “It’s 5 a.m. and I have to be at work in three hours.”

“At least I pay my bills,” Ryan responded. It was a running joke between them. Not all of the clients of Ruiz Immigration Law could afford to pay. Ryan could, and they charged him full rate. Fair enough.

“What do you need?” Vic asked with resignation.

Ryan told him the story.

There was silence. “And you want me to represent the boy?” Vic was incredulous.

“Hell no,” Ryan said. “He’s on his own. No, I’m afraid the cops will try to arrest the homeless men who detained that bastard. I want you to represent them.”

Vic laughed. “That’s more like it. Tilting at windmills as usual. I’m already at my car. Be there in a few.”

Hank glanced at him after he hung up the call. “You have a devious mind,” he said with admiration. “I like it. Miguel? He’s nice. Cares about us. But that wouldn’t occur to him.”

“That’s why they have me,” Ryan said, a bit sourly. 

It played out just about as Ryan had thought it might. The cops took Brady White, all right, but then they started talking about arresting the men who’d detained him. Miguel was right up front videotaping, which was probably the only thing that stopped the cops. Although of late, the cops had been all too willing to rough up reporters and even arrest them as well.

Ryan and Hank stood across the street and watched. Vic pulled up, parked, and got out. He was a Mexican-American from Yakima, the same town Ryan’s wife Teresa came from. Vic was older than Teresa, but they knew people in common — Teresa’s cousins, Ryan suspected. And that made him wonder about Vic. Teresa had some wild cousins. He’d partied with them back in the day when he still drank. 

Vic assessed the situation and shook his head. He walked over to the police and started a conversation. The cops told the homeless men to get out of there, and they didn’t argue. Vic looked around, saw Ryan and came across the street. Miguel had trailed along with the homeless men. 

“Well that was interesting,” Vic said. “They make a citizen’s arrest, the culprit has confessed on video, and they want to arrest the citizens. Too bad the cops backed down. That’s a case I’d like to see tried.”

Ryan looked at him skeptically. “On my dime?”

“And before a judge, not a jury,” Vic added. “Because God knows what a jury would do. But I commend their restraint. I would have expected them to beat the shit out of the little bastard at the least. And they go for a reporter instead? That’s almost worth getting out of bed this early.”

“Your idea?” Ryan asked Hank.

He shook his head no. “I’m more of the beat the shit of him and toss him in the river kind,” he admitted. “No, I’m not sure who it was.”

“Might be interesting to find out,” Ryan suggested. “An organizer might be just what the homeless community needs.”

“Unionize the homeless?” Vic asked amused.

Ryan shrugged. “Organize the homeless? Self-advocacy?” He changed the subject. Hank was looking after the others, a thoughtful expression on his face. Good enough. “Can you give me a ride home?” he asked Vic. “Jogging down that hill isn’t bad, but running back up? That’s another story.”

Hank look puzzled. “Where do you live?”

Ryan hesitated. “Portland Heights.”

The man stared. “You live in Portland Heights,” he repeated. 

Ryan sighed, and ignored Vic’s snicker. “Inherited the place from my grandparents,” he said. “So yeah. I live in Portland Heights. And it’s a bitch of a run back up Vista Drive.”

Hank shook his head. “I’m going,” he said. “I want to know who did that.”

“If you find out? Could you let Miguel know? Introduce them? It would be a favor.”

Hank nodded, and hands in his pockets, he walked away.

Vic watched him go. “Well that’s the other reason I come when you call,” he observed. “Your problems are never boring.”

Ryan laughed. “Come on,” he said. “I’ll cook you breakfast before you go to work.”
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Chapter 4
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4 a.m., Wednesday, March 30, 2022, Portland —Ellison Lee felt P3 drape his arms around his shoulders, and he stiffened. He wasn’t really out to his co-workers. Well, he guessed he was now. To Ryan at least. Then it dawned on him — that must have been Ryan who had called out P3’s name.

“Do you and Ryan Matthews know each other?” Ellison demanded.

“Jealous, lover?” P3 drawled. 

Ellison snorted. “No. But I work at EWN, and he’s my advisor.”

“You do?” P3 asked, and he dropped the drawl and the lazy body language. He stepped away from Ellison and wrapped his arms around himself. Comfort? Ellison frowned.

P3 said nothing for a block or so. “You need to ask Ryan about me,” he said at last. “And after you do, you’ll want nothing to do with me. So let’s call it quits right now. I’ll walk away, and we’ll skip the screaming confrontation.”

“What?” Ellison asked. He was confused. Sleep deprived, for starters. P3 started to walk away — apparently he’d meant that literally. “Wait! Where are you going?”

“You heard me,” P3 said and he sounded... bitter? angry? “Talk to Ryan. He’ll tell you. Probably be more generous about me than I would be about myself. Damned do-gooder.”

Ellison tried to hide a grin, because that was on point. Ryan had a savior complex. “OK,” Ellison said. “Sounds like you do know the man. But I don’t care what he’s going to tell me. You’re the same man I slept with last night. So come home with me. Doesn’t look like I’m going to get much sleep before class anyway. I might as well have pleasure to show for it, rather than a silly foray into reporting.”

P3 looked at him uncertainly.

“Pleasure?” Ellison coaxed. “Remember that word?”

P3 hesitated, and then he laughed. Ellison winced at the sound — it wasn’t a happy laugh. “Sure,” he said. “Users use, right? I might as well end things the way they started.”

Ellison didn’t even try to make sense of that statement. He just grabbed P3 and pulled him toward his apartment. But P3 went willingly.

Sex with P3 was always good. Inventive, Ellison thought, except he didn’t think any of it was new to P3. He was an experienced, skilled lover. Ellison hadn’t known how much pleasure there was to be had. 

He felt like he craved the man. Craved what P3 made him feel, made him do. Afterward, they lay in Ellison’s loft bed; P3 was stroking Ellison’s hair, as his head rested on P3’s chest. It felt good. Really good. 

He wondered if he could tease P3 into another round. But maybe not. Maybe he should create a memory reel of making love with P3 tonight, and include the sex, but also this, these gestures of intimacy and affection. So he relaxed against this man whom he knew so little about, and yet cared about so passionately.

It wasn’t the kind of love he’d been raised around.

His parents loved each other, he thought. They said they did. But he didn’t think he’d ever seen them be affectionate in public. He’d never seen them kiss. They had hugged him as a child, but he didn’t think he’d ever seen them hug each other. But he’d felt like their love was deep, enduring — they’d been together since they were 18. Ellison had every reason to believe they’d be together until they died.

And Ellison wanted that — someday. 

But P3? It might not last — and it sounded like he was ending things and using Ryan Matthews to do it — but it was intense right now. Ellison didn’t know P3’s real name, didn’t know what he did for a living. He had never been to P3’s apartment. He wasn’t sure of his age, although he was pretty sure he was older than himself. He knew nothing about his family or his past. P3 didn’t talk about himself, and Ellison had given up trying.

It was as if P3 had been born minutes before Ellison had met him nearly three months ago, at the Stag’s New Year’s bash. Ellison had danced. P3 was waiting for him when he was done. Ellison had glanced at him, decided on the spot that he’d be taking P3 home that night. P3 was probably his height, with dark hair and wicked eyes. He’d had a half-smile on his face as he’d lounged against the dressing room wall and watched Ellison towel off. 

That half-smile was deadly effective, Ellison thought now. The man knew how to seduce. Not that it had taken much effort on P3’s part that first night. Ellison had toweled off the sweat and grease, and walked up to him and kissed him, opened mouthed. Made that lazy half-smile of his go away.

They’d fucked in the small dressing room, and Ellison had never had such good sex. “I’m going to dance at midnight,” Ellison had said. “Come home with me and let’s see if that magic works on repeat.”

P3 had laughed a bit. “It was good,” he agreed. “If you don’t get a better offer, I’ll meet you at the back door.”

Ellison knew there wasn’t going to be a better offer than what he’d just gotten. Because holy shit. He couldn’t believe he’d done that, not really, and it had been hot. Ellison looked at the clock on the wall and greased up again. “Got to go,” Ellison said. “But after the dance at midnight, I’ll see you there.”

He had headed back out, then stopped at the door and looked back at the man. “I don’t even know your name.”

A shadow of something passed over his face. “They call me P3,” he said at last.

“P3,” Ellison had repeated. “That’s a name?”

P3 had looked amused. “Sure,” he said lightly. “If you use it, I’ll come when you call. Do you need anything more than that?”

Ellison lay in bed and listened to P3’s heartbeat. He didn’t know anything more about his lover’s life or past than he did that first day. But he did know he was a generous lover, had a sarcastic sense of humor, and this — this easy physical affection that Ellison had come to crave as much as the sex and orgasms. 

Now it looked like he was going to learn more about his lover. 

Problem was, it didn’t sound like P3 planned to stay his lover afterwards. What could there be that would make Ellison reject him — he felt like he knew him well, even though the facts were missing. This was a man Ellison trusted.

“I don’t have to know what Ryan could tell me,” Ellison ventured. 

The hand that was stroking his hair stopped. P3 sighed. “I wish that were true,” he said. “But it’s not. Ryan isn’t the kind to let you stay ignorant. He doesn’t seem to judge, not even me, not much, but he’s driven to know. And for good reason. And he won’t be able to leave you in ignorance either.”

The stroking resumed. “And I’m not brave enough to see the look in your eyes when you hear.”

Ellison was silent. He had guessed that P3 had a rough past. There were white, thin-lined scars that crossed his back, his butt, and the back of his thighs — whip lashes. Overlaying them, were recent scars, deeper, still red, and ugly. He thought the old scars meant P3 might be into pain, but nothing about sex with him had indicated he wanted that. Ellison had been relieved. He didn’t like pain — not to receive or to give. 

But those last lashes had been meant to punish, he thought. They might be a year old, maybe even two, and they were still angry looking. P3 never mentioned them. 

Never mentioned the round scars on his belly trailing down to his cock. It had taken Ellison a while to figure out what they were. Burn scars. Too big for a cigarette. He figured cigars. It made him sick. And the scars were old. Really old. But Ellison hadn’t asked. He thought P3 was relieved not to have to lie — and Ellison was pretty sure he would have.

But those scars indicated he’d been the victim, not the aggressor, and the story was pretty plain to read, Ellison thought, disturbed. So what part of the story did Ryan know? 

“And if I decide I still want to see you after I talk to Ryan?” he asked at last. “How do I find you? I don’t know where you live. I don’t even know your name.” He wanted to say, don’t leave me! To beg him to stay. But he was proud. And P3 had already said he wouldn’t.

P3 laughed a bit. “You won’t.” he predicted. “But if you do?” He shrugged. “I’m around.”

That wasn’t a good answer, Ellison thought, and it made him cranky. He and P3 were good together, he thought, and he wasn’t going to throw it away without giving it a chance. Apparently P3 would. Apparently, he could just walk away?

It occurred to him that P3 already knew what Ryan would say. And he didn’t think they’d survive it as lovers. He frowned, and slowly he began to take in the signs that this wasn’t as easy for P3 as he tried to make it seem. His body was tense, and that seemed impossible after the sex they’d just had. He was stroking his hair still, as if he was loathe to get up and move on. 

Ellison decided he could skip his 10 a.m. class. He never skipped, and he wouldn’t be surprised if he got a call from a worried professor over his absence. But he wasn’t going to be the one who got up and walked away. With that settled in his mind, he relaxed. The steady thump of P3’s heart was a bit more rapid than usual at this stage, the post-sex lethargy. But Ellison listened to it, comforted and reassured by it. 

And then, he drifted off to sleep.

When he woke up he was alone. Ellison closed his eyes against the burn of tears. He hadn’t even said goodbye.

Finally, he got up and used the bathroom. He took a shower and started to get dressed. And that was when he found the note on his dresser. 


I’m glad we had this time. I wish it could have been longer.

Love, P3.






And even there he didn’t use his name, Ellison thought. It made him angry. Well, he knew someone who had the answers. He finished getting dressed and headed to campus. 
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Chapter 5
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9 a.m., Wednesday, March 30, 2022, EWN newsroom —At 9 a.m. Blair called. Ryan stared at the Caller ID and grimaced. He measured the size of the disaster by how early an EIC called. 

And 9 a.m. was not good. Really not good.

“What do you need?” he said simply.

“Will followed up on the frat initiation angle, and it’s blowing up,” Blair said. “Vice President Steve Planck has ordered us to not do the story.”

“The vice president of Student Affairs ordered you to not to do a story?” Ryan repeated slowly, thinking, What the hell, Steve? You knew better!

“Yup.”

Ryan was silent a moment. He’d gone to bat for Steve with President McShane more times than he could count. He’d bailed him out a couple of times. And now he was trying to censor EWN without even calling him? He actually looked at his phone to see if he’d missed a call. Nope.

“You talked to him directly?” Ryan asked.

“Email,” she said. “Can’t imagine someone hacked him.”

“I’m going to ask for a meeting with McShane,” Ryan said. “But Steve can’t stop a story, period. Do that story. And quote them. We’ve got video!” He wanted to laugh at using that phrase, but damn. “You, Miguel and Will need to be there, and I don’t want to do it over Zoom. Who’s the advisor for the Greek system?”

“Someone named Bob Martin,” she said. “I don’t know him, which means he is either new or he doesn’t do anything else — and how can they afford that? — because student government was my beat two years ago.”

“I’m heading in,” Ryan said sourly. He’d been hoping for a nap. He was operating on two hours of sleep. And he wasn’t one of those people who did well without sleep. Some were — Emily? She could plow through a crisis with no sleep, and crash when it was over. Him? He was incoherent if he didn’t get at least six hours every night. 

He drove down and parked across the street. There was a no parking sign and he stuck it in the back seat of car. And then he used a card to plug the meter there — one of the few single meters left in the city, he thought. One of these days someone would pull it out and his scam would end.

And really, he could afford parking. But once upon a time, he thought he was a broke college student, and free parking had been important. Now it was a nostalgia thing, maybe a way to feel like a normal person? That was kind of pathetic.

He went up the stairs. He pulled back his shoulders, lengthened his stride a bit, and projected confidence. And almost plowed into Ellison Lee who was pacing anxiously in the entry to the newsroom. 

“Blair said you were heading in,” Ellison said abruptly. “Can we talk?”

Shit, Ryan thought. He didn’t need this right now. But one look at Ellison made it obvious that Ellison needed it. “Give me a bit,” Ryan said. He kept his voice calm and he saw Ellison respond to it. Hallelujah. “Sit on the couch. Read some homework. Let me get this meeting set up with the president, and then we’ll talk.”

Ellison nodded, and he obediently headed to the couch. Blair was watching him, and now she looked at Ryan and raised an eyebrow. Ryan just shook his head. It really wasn’t newsroom related. Was it?

Well, it was news people related. But it wasn’t Blair’s problem as EIC. 

God help him, this one was his.

He went into his office, turned on his computer. He had voice messages, he noticed. He listened to them. There was one from Bob Martin, the advisor for the Greek system.

“Ryan, we haven’t met, but I think we need to talk,” a smooth congenial male voice said. Ryan frowned. “The story your students are considering has far-reaching implications. Call me when it is convenient.”

Ryan saved the message and hit the next voicemail. It was Steve. “Call me,” he said. And hung up. Well, la-de-dah, Ryan thought. Steve had his cell and could have called him directly. This was establishing rank. Ryan knew a power play when he saw one. 

They’d been more fun when they were about sex, Ryan thought sourly. Then he glanced at Ellison who looked miserable and sighed.

He had planned to send McShane an email, but this had all the hallmarks of spiraling out of control. He sent him a text instead. 

McShane’s response: My office 11 a.m. Bring your staff. Who besides Planck?

Ryan: Someone named Bob Martin, advises Greek Row.

McShane: We have a Greek Row? Fine. And Ramirez.

Ryan looked at the time. It was 10:30 a.m. He grimaced. He stuck his head in Blair’s office. “Meeting with McShane at 11 a.m.,” he said. “He wants the entire crew. I’d like to include Ellison. He was there last night, for starters, and second, he’s stressed out, and I don’t want to leave him hanging. Do you mind?”

“Of course not,” she said. “He was there?”

“Saw the whole thing,” Ryan said. “Then he saw Miguel arrive, but Miguel was alone, so he hung around, as backup. Made some good calls, actually.”

“Sounds like it,” she said. “Miguel went upstairs to sleep. Want to wake him? I’ll call Will.”

Ryan nodded, but he went to Ellison first. He started to put his hand on his shoulder, and then reconsidered. P3 was involved? He grimaced. “We want you to come along to this meeting,” Ryan said. “It’s about last night. You’re our eyewitness. And we will talk. But they’re trying to block this story.”

Ellison frowned. “Can they do that?”

“Legally? No,” Ryan said. “Physically? No... but pressure? They seem to think they can.”

Ellison stood up to follow him. “You know P3?”

Ryan nodded. “He’s not someone we’re going to talk about here,” Ryan warned. “But we will talk.”

Ellison took a deep breath and forcibly changed to the somewhat preppy college student. “Ready,” he said. Ryan went to get Miguel.

Will was waiting for them outside, and the five of them walked over. “Remember Blair is the boss,” Ryan reminded everyone. “She makes the decisions. She calls the shots. Blair, if you want me — or someone else for that matter — to answer, you know the drill. Say my name. Otherwise, you’ve got this.”

She nodded, composed. Blair was a tall, slim blonde. She wore her hair cut in a stylish bob. Her makeup was tasteful. She wore a white shirt and a black skirt, with a pretty green cardigan sweater. A scarf, no less. And black flats. She could easily pass for a young faculty member. 

And it hurt. Six months ago, she’d been a bouncy, happy cheerleader type with shorter, flippy skirts and tighter T-shirts. But that changed when Will was injured. Some of it was having to pick up the editorship early and without warning. Some of it had been worry about Will and his injuries, which were bad, and made worse by Student Health Services. 

And that reminded him of why he was already mad at Steve Planck. Student Health Services was in his bailiwick, and they’d fucked up. Steve had fucked up. And Ryan had managed to get things moving ahead — without Planck losing his job. Steve owed him. And this wasn’t the kind of payback he was due.

And then there was the whole Campus Security issue. He’d been meaning to talk to Planck about that one too.

He set all that aside, and worked at the calm, confident persona. He noticed Blair was watching him. “You going to be OK?” she asked quietly.

Ryan nodded. “I’m fine,” he said. “Pissed, but fine.”

Carol Braun, the president’s secretary, smiled at them all when they came in. “I put on coffee,” she said. “It’s a bit late in the morning for it, but it’s there if you want some.”

Ryan was the big coffee drinker of EWN, and he felt old as the others shook their heads no to the offer. He took a cup gratefully. “Up late,” he murmured to her. “I got called in.”

She nodded. Carol was good people, Ryan thought. They’d been through some things together — the murder of the interim provost in the president’s office for one.

They went into the conference room, and Ryan gestured for them to fill in on one side. Blair took the end of the table so that she’d face President McShane when he came in. Ryan sat to her left.

When McShane came in, he was followed by Steve Planck, a young preppy man he didn’t know, and assumed was Bob Martin, and Campus Security Chief Ramirez. He thought they’d been holding a pre-meeting session. Not a good sign.

Blair took control of the meeting. “President McShane, I’d like to play a tape of the interview conducted last night. Miguel?”

Miguel had his camera, he plugged it into the computer projector, and started the video, before anyone could stop him. Will got the lights, and everyone swiveled to see the video. Miguel had done a rough edit that showed some of the scene of the attack on the homeless, and a bit with the homeless people talking about why they wanted the attacker interviewed.

Ryan showed up, and he conducted the interview. There was discussion among the homeless men over Ryan’s suggestion that Brady White be taken to the police station. A bit more of the walk to the station, the handoff, and then it ended.

Will picked up smoothly. Had Blair organized this? Ryan thought she might have, although they’d had to do these kinds of things before. It made him tired.

“So I was asked to follow up with the police, and, of course, with administration,” Will said. He didn’t explain why — if they didn’t know that much about how things worked at EWN, they shouldn’t be in the room. Bob Martin was taking notes, Ryan noticed. That was interesting.

“No one died,” Will said. “But there are two children and four adults still in the hospital this morning. Nearly a dozen others were treated for burns.” He paused briefly, but no one said anything, and he continued, “The police said that Brady White used his one phone call to call Bob Martin, his campus advisor. Bob came down, and got Brady released on a PR — personal recognizance bond — which for an assault that injured nearly a dozen people, including children, was pretty amazing. Brady White left with Bob Martin,” Will said. “So this morning I tracked down who Bob Martin was. We weren’t surprised to find out that he was the advisor to the Greek system such as it is on campus. That our fledgling Greek system requires a full-time advisor was news to me. But that’s a story for a different day. Bob refused to comment, pending an internal investigation, and suggested that we hold off on the story until that investigation was completed. I asked for the names of the other three who were involved. He didn’t give them to me.”

Will didn’t sound surprised at that. “I got a voicemail while I was talking to Bob, that Vice President Planck would like me to call him, and I did. I was told that EWN was not to print a story about this until the investigation was completed, that it would prejudice the Judicial Committee. I said we had video of the attack, and an interview. It would be Blair’s call, but we would include his comments.”

“Do we have a Judicial Committee finally?” Ryan asked. News to him if so. They’d been working on getting bylaws for it since last summer.

“Apparently,” Will said. “But Kari Dow, our news editor, hadn’t heard of it either.”

“It’s not been ratified by the Faculty Senate or the Board of Trustees,” Steve Planck said stiffly. “But student government has approved it and we’re using it on a case-by-case basis. This seems to be an appropriate case.”

Ryan looked at him open-mouthed. Students had attacked homeless people, called them rats to be burned out, and had done so as an initiation rite for a fraternity at PSU, and he thought it was a student conduct code issue. And this wasn’t the first hibachi attack! He glanced at Ramirez who was looking at Planck thoughtfully.

“Ryan, I noticed you conducted the interview,” McShane said. “Why was that?”

Ryan gestured to Miguel. 

“Hank — one of the homeless men I’ve talked to in the past — came to get me at the Loft, and we walked down to the scene,” Miguel said. “He didn’t tell me about Brady White until after I’d filmed all of that. When he took me over to see Brady, Brady was huddled down against the exterior wall of the Chinese Garden and surrounded by a dozen angry men. I’m good at blending in and getting the men to talk to me, and you saw some of that. But it was a really tense situation, and I was afraid violence would erupt at any second. And if it did, people would die. Probably Brady first, but me second, and it would spread.” 

Miguel swallowed. “But I couldn’t reject the men’s desire either. They could have just killed him. And to be honest I wouldn’t have blamed them. It would have been wrong, of course,” he added hastily. “But Brady White had just participated in burning homeless tents and encampments a block long. People are seriously hurt. So I wanted to encourage their non-violent request. But the only person I know who can conduct that kind of interview consistently and successfully is Ryan. So I called him. You saw the rest.”

“Unusual for the advisor to be on screen,” McShane observed.

“It is,” Ryan agreed. “And it will be Blair’s decision with that of her leadership team how much, if any, of it is used. But in my estimation, Miguel was right. It was a very volatile situation, and my refusal would have lit the fuse. Scared me half-to-death to do it. I was afraid one wrong question would set things off. As it was, we did the interview, and Brady White was delivered to the police to face charges of assault.”

“Something we hope to get dropped,” Bob Martin said. 

There was silence in the room. “We need to clarify something,” Blair said slowly. “I’ve been assuming this is an on-the-record meeting, as all such meetings are. Bob, we will be quoting you on that. Perhaps you’d like to expand on that answer?”

“You can’t quote me!” Bob said alarmed.

“Why not?” Will asked. “You said it. Why do you think the police shouldn’t proceed with charges against the person who firebombed a homeless encampment?”

“Well that’s an exaggeration, don’t you think?” Planck interjected. “A prank that went awry, perhaps?”

Miguel queued something up and played it. It was of some of the people waiting for help from the EMTs. It was graphic. Ellison spoke up. “I was down in the district,” he said. “I’m Ellison Lee, and I’m an anchor for EWN. I don’t usually do reporting. But I live down there. And so I was coming out of a bar when I saw the ambulance arrive. I’m not sure why it took so long, either.” He looked at Will, puzzled. Will shrugged and made a note on his notepad. “So I saw some of it before Miguel got there. I was about ready to call him when he showed up. And I hung around until Ryan got there because Miguel had no backup, and it worried me.”

Ellison swallowed, and when he spoke again, his voice was barely above a whisper. “It was horrible,” he said. “The fire was still going. People were screaming, trying to put it out. But there’s no water down there. Even the firetruck had a hard time getting the firehose to work. Some of the screams were from children. It was intentional. It was assault. And we should report it as such.”

“And it’s not the first time,” Miguel said. “I’ve been tracking this story down. I’d heard rumors for a while now that there was an intentional plot behind these attacks. The rumor said it was a frat stunt. One of my sources knew about a similar deal a generation ago in Seattle. There they rolled homeless men in gas and lit them on fire. There’ve been three that I know of — this is the fourth.”

McShane was looking at Planck now. “We do not need this kind of negative publicity,” Steve Planck said heavily. “I agree with you it is horrible. But we can expel the students. Discipline them all. And do it quietly.”

Ryan glanced at Blair, and she nodded her permission. “Steve, remember when I was attacked? And we talked about how if people hadn’t bailed them out of trouble at age 10, they wouldn’t be doing felony assault at 20 and expecting to be bailed out? But here you are, bailing out some entitled white boys. And what will they do next? And then let’s talk about the institutional responsibility. How the hell didn’t someone know that our students were assaulting homeless camps as part of a frat initiation? And have done it several times? Isn’t that what a full-time advisor is supposed to prevent?”

“I don’t get that involved in their events unless I’m invited,” Bob Martin said stiffly. “I’m too busy for that.”

Ryan regarded him. “How many houses are there in our Greek system?” he asked. 

“A half dozen now.”

“Does that include the scholarship fraternities?” Ryan asked. 

Bob Martin nodded reluctantly.

“And the traditionally Black fraternities?” 

He nodded again.

“So what three fraternities and three sororities?” 

He nodded.

Ryan looked at him. “How many people are in those three fraternities?”

“About 50,” Bob said after a pause to add them up.

“Brady White said he belongs to Kappa Kappa Kappa,” Ryan continued. “I was unfamiliar with that fraternity and looked it up. It doesn’t exist as a national fraternity. So is it local only to PSU?”

Bob hesitated. “I believe there might be other chapters on campuses. OSU I think. But yes, they organized last academic year. They’ve done a good job. Their academics are excellent. They’ve had several successful service projects.”

“When they could fit them in between attacking homeless camps,” Ryan murmured. He looked up. “You are aware that this locally developed organization chose KKK as their Greek house name?”

There was silence. 

“Oh come on,” Bob Martin protested. “You think that was deliberate?”

Ryan made a face. “It was deliberate,” he pointed out. “They chose those letters. It’s not a national house, or some long tradition they’re keeping in spite of the embarrassing connotations. They deliberately picked out Kappa Kappa Kappa and that happens to be KKK. You think it was an accident? Really?”

McShane was looking at Planck with disfavor. Ryan winced.

“I’d like to hear from you, Chief,” Blair said.

“On the record? No comment,” Ramirez said. “Off the record? I’d bust them and take them down to the police station to be charged. But I’m a cop, not the public relations arm of the university.”

Who wasn’t here, Ryan thought. But he wouldn’t include them either.

“We have to look at that,” Steve Planck said. “And we have to look at what is best for the students. In loco parentis.”

Steve Planck looked at Ryan. “I noticed you didn’t have Ramirez press charges against Will for assault.”

There was silence. 

“What the hell, Steve?” Ryan said, both puzzled and disgusted. “What are you talking about?”

Will was sitting frozen, and Blair looked at Will anxiously. Miguel and Ellison looked like they wanted to be any place but here.

“When Will assaulted Blair,” Steve said. “You hushed it up. He trashed an apartment. You bought off the landlord. He should have been charged, right? Isn’t that what you think?”

“Whoa,” Ryan said. “You have got your facts wrong. Blair?”

Blair shook her head. “Will never assaulted me,” she said, steadily. “He was suffering a severe brain concussion made worse by the unqualified doctor in your Health Clinic. When he finally collapsed on the sidewalk outside EWN, Ryan saw to it that he received the medical care he needed. He also saw to it that we received counseling, both individually and as a couple. I chose to continue my relationship with Will, because I love him. I trust him. As for the apartment? It was restored to the satisfaction of the landlord — no different than too many nail holes in the walls, actually.”

Ryan kept a poker face. He was the landlord for that building. He was surprised Planck didn’t know that. He wondered where he’d gotten this information. He’d have to think about that.

“I’d like to know where you heard all of this,” Blair continued. “And why you’d throw it at us in an meeting about something else. Are you trying to intimidate us, Dr. Planck? How does this have anything to do with a fraternity named KKK, something that seems your unit overlooked, and has some kind of initiation that includes firebombing the homeless camps?”

You go, girl, Ryan thought with admiration. 

“I’m just saying there are times when an arrest is not the appropriate avenue,” Steve Planck countered.

“Times when no crime was committed vs trying to kill people?” Ellison said hotly. “I think you have a lot of nerve.”

Ryan sucked on his cheek to keep from laughing out loud. He couldn’t meet anyone’s eyes.

“We do have a problem here for the university’s image,” McShane said. “Ryan? How would you solve that?”

Ryan considered it and shrugged. “I’d turn it over to Chief Ramirez, march them all down to the police department and turn them over. And I’d disband the KKK and issue a press release that said there will be zero tolerance of hate and bias crimes at Portland State University.”

“And you think that’s what best for the students?” Bob Martin said hotly.

“That’s not what President McShane asked,” Ryan pointed out. “But as it happens, yes, I think it’s appropriate for the students. If they need counseling, the courts can order it. If they need to go to jail, that’s appropriate as well. Brady White may have been just easily led. But led by whom? And a police investigation by Chief Ramirez can determine all of that. But we cannot try to cover this up. It will get out. The police already know of one participant. They’ll get the others. And then we’re going to look really bad. The question is can we move fast enough now to stave off that bad press. Why didn’t we know after the first attack that some of our students were involved?”

Ryan caught a fleeting expression on Bob Martin’s face. You did know, he thought, knew something at least. Maybe just the KKK thing? Sniggered with them, thought it was funny to put it over on the administration? Where the hell did Student Affairs find these people?

Steve Planck was looking at Bob Martin too. He’d seen what Ryan saw, and he looked tired. He shook his head.

McShane looked at Bob Martin too. “Thank you for coming over,” he said finally to Blair. “I’ll have a quote for you from this office by your 4 p.m. editor’s meeting.” People started to get up and leave. “Steve, could you stay behind? Chief? Ryan?”

Ryan wanted to whine about seriously needing a nap. And he now had two traumatized students to deal with because Will looked like someone had set off a bomb in his lap. Blair was looking at him anxiously too. “If I can make a quick call?” he asked. When McShane nodded, he stepped out and called Cage.

“You at EWN?” he asked quickly.

“Upstairs,” Cage said.

He explained what happened. “Look, check in with Blair and Will,” he said. “If they’re not OK, you know what to do.”

Cage snorted. “Do what I always do? Haul them up to OHSU to Dr. Clarke.” 

“And Ellison and I need to talk,” Ryan added. “Make sure he waits for me. Don’t let him leave.”

“Going to tell me what that’s about?” Cage said. Ryan said nothing. “Fine, I’ll get it out of someone later. I’ve got this.”

Glad someone did, Ryan thought. He just wanted a nap. He went back into the conference room. “What the hell, Steve?” Ryan demanded. “You just undid months of therapy. Congratulations.”

Steve Planck looked ashamed. “I... You know what? I’m no good at this job,” he burst out. “You want it? You can have it.”

“I don’t want it,” Ryan said incredulously. “Where did you get that idea? Hell, I can barely keep up with my hellions, and I have the advantage of having done most of the same shenanigans as they pull.”

“I would agree that this job isn’t a good fit for your talents,” McShane told his vice president for Student Affairs. “You have too much faith in the goodness of people. Ryan takes a look at the frat name, goes what the hell? Googles it, checks it out, and in 10 minutes is ready to denounce them. And your advisor was in on it, by the way.”

“Ryan called me a Pollyanna,” Steve said tiredly. “I told my wife that, and she laughed. Still pulls it out now and then.”

“I want to change the org chart,” McShane said. “I want to put you in charge of Student Services. And I’m going to merge what is left of Student Affairs into Academic Affairs, as a division with an associate provost. Lucy Zhao can move into that position.”

“Lateral move for me, but is that a demotion for Lucy?” Steve asked. “She doesn’t deserve a demotion.”

“I’ve been talking to her,” McShane said. “She’s intrigued by being part of Academic Affairs and aligning Student Affairs with academics better. To be honest, I think she’s bored running Student Services. Very little contact with students, and she misses that.”

“Steve, where did you get that crap about Will?” Ryan asked. “I need to go, by the way. I had a student in crisis as it was, and now I have three.”

“Student gossip,” Steve said. “And tell Will I apologize. I’ll try to call him later myself. That was uncalled for. But I was embarrassed that I hadn’t caught the KKK thing, which was painfully obvious once you pointed it out. And I lashed out. To be honest, I’m exhausted. There are never-ending fires to be put out. I’m a program person, not a problem solver like that.”

Ryan nodded. He wanted more info about who had spread that rumor about Will. It wasn’t Cinder, the Student Senate president. She knew who the landlord was — she rented there too. “And the Judicial Committee? It’s operational without being fully vetted?” Ryan demanded. “What’s with that?”

“We needed something,” Steve Planck said defensively. “And Faculty Senate is spinning their wheels.”

Ryan tapped his fingers on the table. He made himself stop. No tells! A tell, he’d picked up from Blair, which reminded him — he had his own students who needed him. 

“I’ll mention that to Blair as a possible story,” Ryan said. “And for God’s sake, turn all this over to Ramirez. Let him investigate. Because I don’t know how deep Bob Martin is in all this. But I can tell you he knew about the KKK. What else did he know? That’s Ramirez’s job. And I’ve got to get out of here.”

“Go,” McShane said. “Ask Blair if I can join them for part of their meeting. I should have something to tell them by then.”

Ryan didn’t give anyone time to change their minds. He was almost at a run when he hit the hallway. Ellison was lingering by the elevator. “Good,” Ryan said. “Let me check in with Blair and Cage, and I’ll buy you lunch.”
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Chapter 6
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12:30 p.m., Wednesday, March 30, 2022, PSU campus — Ellison Lee waited while Ryan Matthews did his check-in calls. Lunch with the advisor? He didn’t think he’d spoken to Ryan more than a couple of times beyond hello. He chewed on his lip.

“Lunch,” Ryan said as he hung up the last call. “Is the cafe by the newsroom OK? I try to give them as much business as possible so that they don’t close.”

“And we’d be back to Safeway sandwiches again,” Ellison said in agreement. 

“Exactly.”

They ordered their food. Ryan got a roast beef sandwich on rye with Swiss cheese. Ellison eyed that and shook his head. He got the roast turkey on sourdough with provolone. 

Ryan took one bite of his sandwich and sat it down. “So how much do you know about P3?” he asked.

Ellison lost his appetite. “Nothing,” he said bitterly. “Not even his name. And he broke things off last night and said to ask you why.” He laughed a bit. “Called you a do-gooder who would probably be less harsh on him than he would be.”

Ryan took another bite of sandwich. Ellison thought he was using the food to give himself time to think. 

“But you were lovers, right?” Ryan asked. Ellison nodded. “For how long?”

“Since New Year’s Eve.” He had a flash of that first encounter and closed his eyes. He ate more of the sandwich. Maybe Ryan had the right of it. Food as a barricade to memory. “Who is he?” Ellison burst out. “Why wouldn’t he tell me his real name!”

Ryan laughed a bit. “Because he hates his name, actually,” he said. “That part’s easy. He’s been called P3 since he was a toddler. And also because his name is well known. P3 is Percy Abbott, the third.”

Ellison frowned. The name didn’t mean anything.... Then it hit him. Holy shit, yes it did. “His grandfather? One of the men blown up in the drug lab thing? He was running for governor, right?”

“He was, until he had to drop out of the race when he was charged with attempted kidnapping and attempted assault,” Ryan said. “P3 was also charged with that. And the child they were trying to kidnap was my son. And the person they were trying to kill was me.”

Ellison stared at him. “Do people upstairs know this?” he demanded. “Am I that much out of the loop?”

“It happened before you came on staff, or shortly after,” Ryan said. “And it got shunted aside — with a nudge or two from me — because Will Bristol got kidnapped and killed someone to get us out of there.”

“That was a bad term,” Ellison agreed. Ryan snorted. “So did P3 go to jail? Is that what he thinks I can’t forgive?”

“He was found guilty, but insanity defense put him in a mental institution instead. His grandfather plea-bargained himself out of any jail time. He then found a psychologist who could ‘heal’ P3 and got him out as well. It was that psychologist’s home that blew up,” Ryan said. “But that’s not the important part of P3’s story. Well, maybe it will be — it set him free, in a sense.”

Ryan ran his hand over his head. “I’m telling you this all wrong,” he said. Ellison could hear the frustration in his voice. 

“He has scars,” Ellison said slowly. “Whip lashes? Cigar burn marks. How old was he when he got them?”

Ryan nodded. “Thank you,” he said. “That helps. The cigar burns were made when he was 4 or 5. His grandfather did them. His grandfather and my grandparents — my adoptive parents — were a part of a pedophile ring. They shared children, including P3 and me.”

Ryan swallowed hard and took a deep breath. “I have the same burn marks.”

“And he thinks I’d blame the victim?” Ellison said, appalled by what he was hearing, but still not getting the problem. Well time in a mental institution for trying to kill Ryan? He guessed that should be a deal breaker. But it was as if he was hearing about a stranger. It didn’t correlate to the man he knew.

“P3 is older than I am,” Ryan said. “They abused him, and then they turned him into a weapon to abuse me. Some of my own abuse came at P3’s hands at the direction of our grandparents and their friends. And they would videotape it — we were beautiful together.”

That last line chilled Ellison and he stared at his advisor sitting quietly across from him. “P3 abused you sexually? How old were you?”

Ryan sighed. He drank some of his coffee. “I don’t really know,” he said. “My memories were fogged by a combination of drugs and hypnosis. If you had asked me even three years ago about my family, I would have told you I loved them and they loved me, and they didn’t deserve the wild teen I became. But I couldn’t have told you what I did for my 12th birthday party for instance. Then the memories started leaking. I was having nightmares that felt like memory, and memories that didn’t jibe at all with what I thought I knew. So some of this I’ve learned in the last two years. Not memories, but investigation.”

Ellison nodded, but he was thinking what the fuck?

“So my abuse started around age 3, I think,” Ryan said. “I was in foster care from age 6-10, and that’s probably the only reason I’m at all sane. And I’m not exaggerating. There are people who would argue I’m not sane now, and I agree with them probably one day out three. My grandparents became my adoptive parents, which is how I remembered them until the investigation period of the last two years. And I had no memories before age 10. My brain deals with abuse or pain by storing it in a vault where it can’t touch me. The vault dissolved last summer, but that’s not important to you and P3.”

He stopped. “So to answer your question, I think P3 was used as a surrogate for my abuse when I returned at age 10. He was 14, I think.”

“Old enough to be responsible for his own actions,” Ellison said. But Ryan shook his head no.

“He had been abused for a decade, Ellison,” Ryan said. “Those cigar burns? Age 4? And sexually abused. He was trained to be that surrogate. No, I don’t hold that against him. I know what training like that can do to a person. And he never got off his grandfather’s leash. Never. And when his grandfather decided I was a threat to his candidacy, he sicced P3 on me. And P3 came after me. I don’t even hold that against him.”

Ellison scowled. He was getting a headache just trying to follow this. “You’re saying he’s like a pit bull that has been abused and turned into an attack dog?” he asked slowly, trying to make sense of it.

Ryan brightened. “That’s a very good analogy,” Ryan said with approval. “It’s not the dog’s fault, it’s his owners. And in a very real sense that is true for P3. But you still have to protect the world from that pit bull, and the same is true about P3. I had hopes about the mental institution — that he might get the help he needed. Instead he got his grandfather and psycho-psychologist. And God knows what that did to his mental state.”

“You’re saying he’s insane,” Ellison said flatly. “I didn’t see it.” He shook his head. “And I never felt like I was in danger of being harmed.”

Ryan grimaced. “Well, there’s a number of parts to that answer,” he said. “One, yes, he’s clinically insane. His view of reality doesn’t mesh with reality as you and I know it. But, point two — his grandfather is dead. He’s off that leash. And that offers him potential to reinvent himself. And it sounds like he chose to reinvent himself as your lover. So your expectations have defined him to some extent.”

Incredulously, Ellison stared at Ryan Matthews. He’d fallen down the rabbit hole, he thought. “You’re saying he imprinted on me? Sorry, Ryan, but he was the dominant in our relationship.”

Ryan looked uncomfortable, and he was looking at Ellison like he couldn’t figure him out. “I know you, don’t I?” Ryan blurted out. “I keep thinking you’re familiar, but I think EWN is out of context, and so I can’t pull up the memory. Or maybe the memory is one of the missing pieces. Do I know you?”

Ellison took the last bite of sandwich. He didn’t even really remember eating the rest. He thought about how open Ryan had been about all of this because he — and apparently P3 — thought he needed to understand. He sighed and hoped he didn’t regret this. He’d been so careful to keep his worlds apart. “You don’t know me personally,” Ellison said slowly. “But you’ve probably seen me around. You may have seen me dance at the Stag.”

Ryan stared at him. “E. Lee.” His face relaxed, and Ellison stared at him. He looked completely different.

“Yes,” Ryan continued matter-of-factly, “I’ve seen you dance. You’re very good. I take it the staff upstairs don’t know?”

“No, and neither does my family,” Ellison said. “I’ve kept all my worlds separate. And someday, I’ll give up the E. Lee persona. But for now? The tips are good — really good. They’re paying for college, as a matter of fact. And I like it. Exhibitionist, here. I’ve wondered if that exhibitionism is what attracts me to anchoring as well.”

Ryan laughed. “Possibly,” he agreed. “And it has a better long-term future. You’ve got what it takes to do well. Good job, by the way, last night, and today. You should try your hand at reporting some. Broaden your skill set a bit. Like Bianca has.”

Ellison filed that away to consider later. “So P3,” he said. “Why did he send me to you? And walk away. And I still don’t get what you mean by imprinting on me.”

“I would have asked you about P3 today and he knew it,” Ryan said. “I lost track of him after the fire and his grandfather’s death. It worries me that he’s surfaced like this, to be honest. He is not sane, Ellison. You need to believe that. To keep it firmly in mind. He’s extremely charismatic. Hard to resist, right? That’s because he’s been trained since he was 4 years old to seduce someone by being whatever it is they most want. To please them by becoming the object of their desires. And that’s what he did with you.”

Ellison was shaking his head. “It doesn’t work like that,” he said.

Ryan closed his eyes. “Yes it does,” he whispered. “Yes it does.”

Ellison stared at him. “They called you the Chameleon,” he said, knowing he was revealing that he knew more of Ryan’s past than he had ever let on before. “That’s never been my world. But some of the more generous... patrons... in my world play. And they gossip. Some of the stories were about the Chameleon. That’s you.”

Ryan nodded. “It was,” he corrected. “I got clean and sober four years ago and left it behind. How old are you?”

Ellison blinked. “I’m 24,” he said. “I had a few wild years between high school and college. My parents were quite upset — I told them I was working to save up money for college. I didn’t want them to have to pay for it. I didn’t tell them what I was doing to earn that money.”

“I suspect not,” Ryan said dryly.

Ellison grinned, then sobered. “So you’re saying that P3 lacks a real sense of self, and that he’s fixated on me because he likes the lover I think he is. So he’s become it? OK, that’s weird, but I’m still unclear why he walked away.”

Ryan laughed. “I suspect he thought you might balk to find out he was clinically insane, been convicted of crimes, abused a boy sexually for years, and is completely unstable?”

Ellison shrugged and grinned lopsidedly. “These things happen?” he said wryly and was entertained by one of Ryan’s laughing fits. He laughed too. How could you not? “So how do I find him?” Ellison blurted out. “I have no idea where he is. Is he’s attempting to rehab himself? Where is he living? Does he have a job? Can he hold down one? What happens now? If I was his tether to reality — and isn’t that scary — what’s he going to do without it?”

“All very good questions,” Ryan agreed. He started tapping his fingers, frowned, and made himself stop. Ellison hid a grin. “Can I ask you some personal things?” 

Ellison stared. “More than what we’ve already discussed?” he asked incredulously.

“Well, I haven’t asked much about you, really,” Ryan pointed out. “But yes. About you and P3 as lovers.”

Oh. Ellison reviewed the conversation, and realized that Ryan hadn’t pried, not really. He’d talked about P3. And he’d been revealing about himself. But he hadn’t pried into Ellison’s life. “Go ahead,” he said cautiously.

“You said that P3 is the dominant in bed,” Ryan said slowly as if he was feeling his way. “Did he ever force you? Even just in play? Hold you down? Use restraints?”

Ellison blushed. Well, that got intimate in a hurry. “Yes,” he said slowly, drawing the word out. “But consensual. And mutual.” Please don’t make me get more explicit, he thought fervently.

Ryan frowned thoughtfully. “Any pain games?”

Pain games??? Ellison choked. He almost blurted it out, and he would have been embarrassed to death if he had. “No,” he said definitely. “I’m not into pain, and he hasn’t ever suggested anything like that. Given his scars....” He trailed off.

Ryan smiled. And Ellison stared. That was the smile that had seduced nearly everyone, he thought. It wasn’t aimed at him. Aimed at memory? What all had Ryan been into? He wished he could ask.

“So no real dominance, submission? No BDSM?” Ryan asked.

Ellison just shook his head. “He was a creative lover, but gentle. Yes, I did things I’d never done before,” he said slowly. “But it was more like I had a lot to learn about sex. Nothing terribly kinky even. Well soft bondage. But he’s not like the man you’re describing. To the point where I’m like, is this the same person?”

Ryan nodded. “The kinds of abuse he and I went through leaves no sense of self,” he said. “And he was abused longer than I was. I’d make the case he was still being abused right up until the fire killed his grandfather. And now he’s adrift. That worries me.”

“Because you think he’s dangerous?”

“We’re all dangerous if the circumstances are right,” Ryan replied absently, as if he was thinking about something else. “But I worry about him. Is he destructive? Yes. But more? He’s self-destructive. And in spite of everything, and there’s more, I would help him if I could.”

Which is why P3 sent him to Ryan. There’s the savior complex shining through, Ellison thought. “But how do I find him?”

Ryan refocused on Ellison. “Why would you? He broke things off, right? Ellison, he’s not good for a relationship. When I say I’d help him, I’m not planning on taking him in, befriending him, or letting him near my family. I’d locate a therapist. Make sure he went. Make sure he had a home. All from a distance. You’re sounding like you’d continue your relationship with him. Have you heard anything I’ve said? Or do I need to get blunter?”

Ellison rolled his eyes. “I heard you. Mentally unstable. Abused as a child, has no real sense of self, and may have imprinted on me to develop one. But Ryan? He’s....” He trailed off when he couldn’t think of the right word. Amazing. Arousing. Intense. “Mine.”
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Chapter 7
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1:30 p.m., Wednesday, March 30, 2022, PSU campus — “Oh dear God,” Ryan muttered. He studied the young man before him. Ellison Lee had a future as an television anchor, especially if he developed an interest in reporting. He had the looks for it. The sense of presence. He’d handled some rough stories. Bianca thought highly of him — which carried a lot of weight with Ryan. 

Ellison wasn’t 15, Ryan told himself. He’s 24, almost as old as he was. He’s a pole dancer for The Stag — he’s no dewy-eyed innocent. At least Ryan didn’t think he was. 

“Is P3 your first lover?”

Ellison snorted. “No.”

So did he have the right to interfere? No, Ryan admitted. “Bargain. You tell me if you find any trace of him, and in return I’ll tell you if I do,” he said slowly. “And yes, I’m going to look. P3 without a leash is a disaster waiting to happen.”

“He seemed fine,” Ellison insisted.

“Of course he did,” Ryan said sourly. “You had his leash.”

Ellison looked horrified. 

“I told you. He was becoming the person you saw in him because he liked what you saw,” Ryan repeated. “I still have bad spells, and I look at Teresa and see myself in her eyes, and I find myself again. And that’s not some sappy metaphor. There were times when I was recovering last summer that I would forget who I was. Well, I’d forget which Ryan I was. I’d think I was 20 again. It was bad. Really bad. Better now. And it gets better all the time. But I have Teresa to anchor to. And for the last few months, P3 has had you.”

“And now he doesn’t,” Ellison said slowly.

“And now he doesn’t,” Ryan agreed. “Someone will pick up that leash, Ellison. I don’t think there are any of his grandfather’s old cronies running around. But if there are, and they get ahold of P3, they’ve got a weapon they can arm. And he won’t be the P3 you experienced.”

Ryan tried to think if there were any of the old crowd. He hadn’t thought so. Didn’t mean there weren’t new assholes who might use an unstable man like P3. Or just abuse him. “Let me check around,” Ryan said. “I promise I’ll keep you informed. Promise me you’ll tell me if you see him or hear from him?”

Ellison nodded. “I will. And I’m going to look for him, Ryan,” he said, then he added as if it embarrassed him to say it: “I love him.”

Ryan studied him. Then nodded. What else could he do?

His phone buzzed. A text from Blair. Was he headed their way? They had a problem. 

He sent a thumbs up. “We good?” he asked Ellison. “Because there’s a crisis upstairs, apparently.”

Ellison nodded. He looked at the time. “It looks like I might actually make a class today,” he muttered. “And I’m going to take a nap upstairs or I’ll look like an anchor without sleep tonight.”

Ryan grinned at him. “Might be appropriate for you to anchor Miguel’s story, then.”

Ellison laughed and headed out the door. Ryan got a refill on his coffee, and paid the bill, adding a hefty tip. “Things going well?” he asked the owner who was managing the till.

“It is,” he said. “The patio out front helps. The night hours are working. That infusion of cash made a difference too. Thanks for hooking me up with your investor friend.”

“Not a problem,” Ryan said, truthfully, since he’d been the anonymous investor. “About time for that street party celebration?”

“Spring term just started?” the man said thoughtfully. “A week from this Friday?”

Ryan nodded. “I’ll send someone by to help with publicity,” he promised. “It will need a big splash.”

He added that to his mental list of things to do and went upstairs. Harmony was in her office, staring at nothing. He needed to check on her too, he thought, and added that to his never-ending list. 

And he really needed to think about P3. 

Did anyone add ‘check on Ryan’ to their list, he wondered. And then he smiled. Yes, they did, he thought as faces popped into his head. They did indeed.

Feeling better, he went to see what Blair needed.

And then he needed to think. Where would P3 go? And then, damn it, he knew. Just like that. Well, he couldn’t follow up with that now. EWN came first. But shit. Someone was going to pick up his leash after all.

Blair was actually pacing by the entry. Bianca and Kari were at their stations, but they weren’t working — just watching their EIC pace. He grimaced. Bad news incoming.

“What’s up?” he asked.

Blair stopped. “Bob Martin called,” she said. “Says we have no right to publish that story. And if we did it was an obvious breach of ethics and he would go to the student fee committee and get our fee allocation blocked. Can he do that?”

“He can try,” Ryan said. He hoped McShane moved fast on bringing Student Affairs into Academic Affairs. And he hoped Provost Michelle Stewart would put her years as Media Board chair to good use. This was ridiculous. “But what’s that saying you like? About ink by the barrel?” he teased.

Blair laughed and relaxed. “Never quarrel with people who buy ink by the barrel,” she said. “OK. And I suppose ‘When in doubt, print’ works here too?”

Ryan grinned at her. “I don’t think Bob Martin has the clout he thinks he does,” he said. “But if he tries? Well, cover it — it’s public record.”

Blair nodded. “OK,” she said. “Now do you have time to talk to Will about this story and the gun story? He’s feeling a bit overwhelmed.”

Ryan grimaced. The gun story. When Amos Bellows shot up the front of EWN’s building, targeting Ryan and Cage, he’d been using an AR-15 that they couldn’t trace. Amos’s rifle was in Campus Security when he’d been released on a PR bond — and wasn’t that revealing about who got to sit in prison and who was walking the streets in 30 minutes? And an hour later he had a different AR-15 and came for Ryan, Cage and the EWN staff. Damned near succeeded — he would have if it wasn’t for Pete Madison who had been on security that night.

Supposedly the AR-15 had been reported stolen by Abel Bellows’ uncle. Except the uncle was in Africa, and the address in the report was the burnt-out husk of psychologist Jonas Bellows’ house, his great-uncle. The house where P3’s grandfather had died along with others. Where Jonas Bellows had died. A house that gave Ryan nightmares. 

And the dates didn’t line up right. But every time someone headed down to get the actual papers, all hell broke loose. Like a war in Ukraine. Or a fraternity initiation that involved throwing hibachis at homeless encampments.

Ryan took a deep breath and held it. He dropped his shoulders out of the defensive hunch they’d gone into just thinking about Jonas Bellows. “Sure,” Ryan said easily. Act as if. “Where is he?”

“In the Center,” she answered, and headed toward the stairs to the third floor. “He finds that space easier to adjust to. This one is too chaotic. Gives him a headache.”

“I can relate,” Ryan said dryly and was rewarded with laughter form Kari and Bianca. He smiled at them, and then followed Blair up the stairs.

Will was on the phone, conducting an interview. Ryan stopped in the doorway and watched him. He was doing better, he thought, pleased at that. It had been a rough couple of months, and it showed. He’d lost weight, and he didn’t have any to lose — Will was tall, lanky, a bit awkward. A concussion, a brain bleed and brain surgery had left him even thinner, and even more awkward. He looked like he had a headache now — he usually did.

But he was interviewing someone. And that was a major step.

Ryan didn’t bother to try and listen in. He had a headache forming too. Instead he looked around the Center’s space. Doris was working on the computer in the corner, a space she’d staked out as hers. She was heading a team that was looking at data on the empty downtown. Her thesis was that it had more to do with changes in work than people staying away. When a third of downtown workers decided they’d rather continue to work from home, it had an impact — one that had a ripple effect. Kari and Blair had assigned her a team of reporters, and they were studying that ripple — into restaurants where people ate, stores where they window-shopped, parking garages where they’d parked. All kinds of things were affected by those workers not coming into town every day.

Ryan was impressed by what Doris could do with her data research approach. She translated those numbers into real people. And the student reporters from EWN liked working with her and learned a lot. 

Exactly the kind of research he’d hoped to foster here in the Center.

Cage was editing video with headphones on and determinedly ignoring them. He had managed to create an experiential exhibit of the George Floyd protests for the Teach-In last month. It had been more manual than Cage would have liked, but it had still been pretty awesome. Cage turned the EWN entry into the protests for eighth graders and PSU students. Blair had then offered tours upstairs. 

Ryan had just basked in the success of it all. 

He avoided looking at the third workstation. Turk was still in Ukraine. They ran stories from Turk nightly. Ryan had characterized it as field work for the administration, and Turk was getting academic credit for it. Not that Turk knew that. But Ryan didn’t want them to lose their place in the Center. And it seemed important to have faith Turk would return. 

So Will had carved out a space up here too. And he fit in, Ryan realized. Maybe they should talk about that for next year. He was graduating, and it was causing stress in his relationship with Blair. A relationship that was already stressed.

Not your problem, he told himself. But, well, he and Will had been friends. They’d gone through a lot together. The vitriol Will had spewed in January when the concussion removed all filters had hurt their friendship. Ryan wasn’t sure it would ever be restored, for all that he acted as if they were still friends. Act as if.

He set that all aside when Will got off the phone. Will took off his glasses and rubbed his eyes. Headache, Ryan thought, worried. But he didn’t say anything. Will wasn’t taking people’s concern very well.

“So, I’m swamped with these two stories,” Will said. “And I think I’ve got to go with the homeless assault and PSU fraternity role in it — unless you think there’s someone else who can do it?”

Ryan looked at Blair. That was her bailiwick, not his, although Ryan suspected Will was actually asking him. He wanted to grimace — way to undermine your girlfriend, he thought. But Ryan just looked at Blair while she thought about it.

“Can you give Kari directions on the gun story?” she asked. “She’s been working with you on that. And then you can focus on the assault and the frat.”

Will chewed his lip, although he was nodding. Finally, he said, “The gun story worries me,” he said. “I think there’s a landmine in there waiting for us. Kari can do the story, I’m confident of that. But I hate to toss her a story that then blows up on her.”

Blair shrugged. “If anyone can handle it, it’s Kari,” she said. “But it would be good for her to have backup with her when she goes down after public records.”

The three of them looked at each other. There were a 100 students who worked for EWN. But there were only a few who could handle a story like this — and two of them — Blair and Will — were in this room. Most of the reporters were just starting out, and they’d drop off about the time they actually had enough experience to be useful. The constant turnover of a student newspaper was always a problem.
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